State of South Carolina

In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

OCT 02 2017

Appeal from Richland County
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Alison R. Lee, Circuit Court Judge

SC SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2011-GS-4003359
Appellate Case No. 2016-002146

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOSHUA WILLIAM PORCH,

Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Michael J. Anzelmo
Matthew A. Abee
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, SC 29201

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Post Office Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

Counsel for Petitioner Joshua William Porch

◆

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. A criminal defendant may attack the veracity of factual statements in a warrant affidavit under *Franks v. Delaware* after making a preliminary showing of recklessness in omitting material evidence. If that threshold is met, the trial court must then determine whether probable cause existed to issue the warrant. The first issue presented is whether a trial court may uphold an arrest warrant by considering evidence not presented to the magistrate who determined that probable cause existed?

- II. The United States Constitution requires that criminal defendants have a meaningful opportunity to cross examine a witness. The second question presented is whether a trial court may limit a defendant's testimony by threatening him with admission of an absent witness's statements where the defendant has only cross-examined the witness in a limited pretrial hearing and whether South Carolina's error preservation rules require the defendant to proffer testimony that was limited, but not excluded?

◆

SUMMARY OF THE CASE

After twice failing to convict Justin Mallory for the murder of Nakiä Mallory, the State turned on its lead eyewitness, Petitioner Joshua William Porch, and sought an arrest warrant for him. When applying for the warrant, the officer failed to advise the magistrate of Porch's prior testimony for the State and other exculpatory evidence. As a result, the warrant was issued, and Porch was arrested in California where he was interrogated on video by a California detective and then South Carolina investigators.

The trial court found under *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), that the warrant affidavit improperly omitted exculpatory evidence and granted an evidentiary hearing. After considering evidence not presented to the magistrate, the trial court concluded sufficient probable cause for Porch's arrest existed. The Court of Appeals affirmed in a published opinion, concluding that an evidentiary hearing was not even warranted and then ignoring Porch's argument that the trial court improperly considered evidence not presented to the magistrate.

During trial, Porch objected to the introduction of his videotaped interrogation by the California detective who was not available for trial. The trial court only admitted the portion of the video not involving the California detective and instructed Porch that testifying about what occurred during the omitted portion of the video would open the door for admission of the remaining video. The Court of Appeals rejected Porch's argument that doing so violated his right to confrontation on error preservation grounds.

Porch now seeks reversal on both issues.

◆

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Early on May 14, 2006, Nakia Mallory was murdered. The State investigated and charged Justin Mallory with the crime. (App. at 199). Mallory's first trial ended with a hung jury. (*Id.*) When the State tried him a second time, Mallory opted for a bench trial. (App. at 197-98). The court found Mallory not guilty. (*Id.*) Porch testified as the State's lead eyewitness at each trial. (App. at 1104-07). Porch testified that he witnessed an altercation between Mallory and the victim, which resulted in her death. (App. 1134-36). Porch intervened in the dispute and suffered an injury himself, which caused his own blood to be left at the scene. (*Id.*)

A. Application for an Arrest Warrant

After failing to convict Justin Mallory twice, the State turned its attention to Porch. (App. at 810-14). The impetus for turning their attention to Porch was allegedly his inconsistent statements—statements which were made during the initial investigation and prior to the State trying Justin Mallory for the murder—and newly discovered blood of the victim's shirt that belonged to Porch. (App. at 71). On July 7, 2009, Chief David Wilson, applied to the magistrate for an arrest warrant for Porch. (App. at 840-42). The warrant included an affidavit stating:

That on or about 05/14/2006 . . . one Joshua Porch did commit the crime of Murder It is believed the defendant committed the crime because [t]he defendant did with malice and aforethought assault and stab Nakia Mallory in the neck which resulted in the death of Nakia Mallory. The defendant has admitted to being at the scene of the crime during the assault and stabbing and has been further implicated in the crime by DNA testing of blood found at the scene that puts

the defendant at the scene and implicates the defendant in the assault at the time of the murder. Affiant and others are witness to prove same.

(App. at 1259). The warrant failed to include that Porch had twice served as the State's lead eyewitness and that he previously testified that his blood was at the scene because he intervened in the altercation between Justin Mallory and the victim. (App. at 80-82, 96-97, 1134-36). The record is silent whether other testimony was presented to the magistrate. (App. at 72-73). The magistrate recounted that the "gist" of what was presented to him was contained in the affidavit. (App. at 95). The record is clear, however, that the officer did not inform the magistrate that Porch had testified—twice—as the State's lead eyewitness. (App. at 80-82, 96-97). Based on the affidavit, the magistrate issued the warrant for Porch's arrest. (App. at 1260).

B. Porch's Arrest and Interrogation in California

After issuance of the warrant, investigators travelled to California and arrested Porch. (App. at 852-53). They interrogated him for approximately 4.5 hours. (App. at 936). During that interrogation, Porch provided statements implicating himself in the victim's death. (App. at 874-76). After a short break, investigators then interrogated Porch for approximately three more hours. (App. at 886-87). During the second interrogation, Porch added details to his statement consistent with evidence law enforcement had collected. (App. at 896). Investigators interrogated Porch for a third time the next day. (App. at 897). Unlike the two previous interrogations, the third interrogation was videotaped. (App. at 898). Although the video begins at 11:00 a.m., the investigators' portion of the interrogation occurs approximately six hours later. (App. at 967). During

the six-hour gap, a California detective interrogated Porch and administered a polygraph examination. (App. at 209).

After investigators returned to South Carolina with Porch, a Richland County Grand Jury indicted him for the murder of Nakia Mallory. (App. at 1258).

C. *Franks v. Delaware* Hearing

Porch moved under *Franks v. Delaware* to void the arrest warrant and suppress his statements to the investigators. Prior to trial, the trial court granted Porch an evidentiary hearing, finding:

[a]fter – after reviewing all of the information, I – I think that there were – that – that the affidavit contained in – in – in the arrest warrant lacks information which would have been relevant to making a decision as to probable cause. And it – it – it lacks both exculpatory as well as inculpatory information.

(App. at 45–46). The trial court stated that it was a close call but required the hearing because the officer failed to include the potential exculpatory evidence. (*Id.*) The trial court recognized that “the case law talks about information that’s relevant but not dispositive information is not enough . . . to warrant the *Franks* hearing,” but concluded that the defense met its burden to require an evidentiary hearing. (App. at 46).

During the *Franks* hearing, Porch presented testimony from the officer who applied for the warrant and the magistrate who issued the warrant. (App. at 47–91, 91–97). The officer confirmed that the State had relied on Porch as an eyewitness in two previous trials for the victim’s murder. (App. at 55, 79). The magistrate testified that the

officer did not inform him of that fact, (App. at 96-97), though at that time the officer knew Porch had testified at the two prior trials, (App. at 51-52, 79).

According to the officer at the hearing, the affidavit was sufficient for a finding of probable cause because of Porch's prior inconsistent statements and newly discovered blood on the victim's clothing that matched Porch. (App. at 90-91). Critically, the warrant affidavit did not contain this information, (App. at 1259), and the officer could not confirm that he had discussed this information with the magistrate. (App. at 76-77, 79).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court rejected Porch's argument regarding the validity of the arrest warrant:

But after hearing all of the information, both information that would have been exculpatory as well as information that the — the — the police officers had available to them, I find that there was sufficient probable cause.

(App. at 107). The trial court specifically relied on at least three pieces of evidence not presented to the magistrate to conclude that probable cause existed: (1) the fact that the suspect and Porch are both left-handed, (2) the newly discovered DNA evidence on the victim's shirt, and (3) Porch's inconsistent statements during the initial investigation regarding the incident. (App. at 107-08). Porch objected to the trial court's improper consideration of the evidence not presented to the magistrate:

Mr. Shealy: I guess I just - just for the record purposes, I—I would slightly disagree with you . . .

The Court: So what you're saying then is—that I can't consider the new information that was presented in making a determination as to probable cause.

Mr. Shealy: I just—the way I viewed the case law was just that . . . you’re the fact—fact finder of this hearing to see what the judge heard . . .

(App. at 110–11). The trial court doubled-down on its expanded inquiry on the first day of trial, again relying on the evidence not presented to the magistrate to determine that probable cause existed. (App. at 127–30). Porch then argued that:

[T]he crux of our objection to your prior ruling at that hearing went to, respectfully, that we felt that the analysis was not correct, that in our opinion as Joshua Porch’s defense counsel, the evidentiary hearing was held to determine if [the magistrate] was given the opportunity, based on what was presented to him or not presented to him by [the officer], for him to make a determination at the time whether there was probable cause, and you, your Honor, as the fact finder of that question . . . it was our opinion for you to decide whether [the magistrate] had that opportunity.

(App. at 130–31). The trial court did not change its ruling, refusing to suppress the evidence and testimony obtained pursuant to the arrest warrant.

D. Porch’s Trial and Conviction

From November 18–25, 2013, the State tried its case for the murder of Nakia Mallory for the third time in seven years. While the investigators who interrogated Porch testified, the State did not secure the appearance at trial of the California detective who interrogated Porch for six hours. The State had subpoenaed the detective to testify; however, the detective did not appear and was not available for cross-examination before the jury.¹ (App. at 144)..

¹ The California detective appeared for the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing eight months earlier, but her testimony was limited to the voluntariness of Porch’s statements. Porch did not have a chance to cross-examine the detective on other matters relevant to his defense.

Over Porch's objection, the State also entered into evidence the one-hour portion of the videotaped interrogation that involved the South Carolina investigators. (App. at 207-08, 225, 233-34; App. at 900-01). The State did not introduce the remaining six hours of the video involving the California detective's interrogation of Porch. (App. at 205-06). Porch objected to introducing only a portion of the video because it would take the entire interrogation out of context. (App. at 206). As Porch explained, the only way for him to put the one-hour portion of the video in context would have been to introduce the entire video or to testify on the details of the full interrogation. (App. at 206). The State argued, "if Mr. Porch testifies about specific occurrences within that six and a half hour interview with [the California detective], . . . it opens the door for the possibility of us playing portions of that video as well." (App. at 1081). In response, Porch argued to the trial court that limiting his testimony by conditioning it on the admission of the remaining video would violate his rights under *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 62 (2004) because the State could not provide the witness at trial. (App. at 1082-83).

The trial court ruled that Porch could not discuss the remaining portions of the interrogation during his testimony without allowing the State to introduce the remaining portions of the interrogation video, despite the absence of the California detective for cross-examination. (App. at 1081-83). Likewise, the trial court ruled that his right to confront the detective was satisfied because he had previously cross-examined the officer on an unrelated issue when she was present for the preliminary hearing held eight months earlier under *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). (App. at 222). Because of the trial court's ruling, Porch did not discuss his interrogation with the absent detective

except to say that it took six and a half hours. (App. at 1125-26). Porch did not proffer any other testimony or evidence.

The jury found Porch guilty of murder. (App. at 1211-14). The trial court then sentenced him to fifty years' imprisonment. (App. at 1225).

E. Porch's Appeal and the Opinion of the Court of Appeals

Porch timely filed his notice of appeal on December 2, 2013. (App. at 1268). After hearing argument, the Court of Appeals issued its published opinion. (App. at 1369-1377). Regarding his *Franks v. Delaware* argument, the Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court had not needed to hold an evidentiary hearing because Porch failed to overcome his burden to show that the State intentionally or recklessly omitted exculpatory evidence. (App. at 1375). The Court of Appeals also found that "even including the potentially exculpatory information, the affidavit was still sufficient to support a finding of probable cause to secure an arrest warrant for Porch." (App. at 1376). The Court of Appeals did not reach Porch's Confrontation Clause challenge, instead ruling that Porch did not preserve the issue because he failed to proffer the testimony he would have given had he been allowed to testify regarding the remaining portions of his videotaped interrogation. (App. at 1377).

Porch petitioned for rehearing, specifically arguing that the Court of Appeals (1) overlooked the trial court's improper reliance on information not presented to the magistrate when the warrant was issued, and (2) misapprehended South Carolina's error preservation rules by rejecting his Confrontation Clause argument. (App. at 1378-83). The Court of Appeals denied his petition on September 20, 2016. (App. at 1385).

Porch timely petitioned this Court for a Writ of Certiorari on October 20, 2016. After return and reply briefs were filed, the Court granted certiorari by order dated August 22, 2017.

◆

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals, relying on *United States v. Tate*, 524 F.3d 449, 455 (4th Cir. 2008), reviewed *de novo* the trial court's decision to grant an evidentiary hearing under *Franks v. Delaware*. (App. at 1373). However, this Court has not yet established the proper standard of review for that inherently discretionary decision. Consistent with the majority of courts that have entertained the question, the Court should review the trial court's decision to hold an evidentiary hearing for clear error. See *United States v. Brown*, 631 F.3d 638, 642 (3d Cir. 2011) (collecting cases); cf. *State v. Asbury*, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997) ("In criminal cases, appellate courts are bound by fact findings in response to preliminary motions where there has been conflicting testimony or where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law.").

Trial and appellate courts review a magistrate's probable cause determination under the substantial basis standard of review. *State v. Kinloch*, 410 S.C. 612, 617, 767 S.E.2d 153, 155 (2014). However, the Court reviews *de novo* the legal question of the proper scope of a trial court's *post hoc* probable cause determination under the second prong of *Franks v. Delaware*. See *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014) (reviewing *de novo* questions of law in criminal cases). Likewise, whether the trial court

has violated the defendant's right to confront witnesses against him is a question of law for the court to review *de novo*. *Id.*

◆

ARGUMENT

The Court should reverse because (1) the courts below wrongly considered evidence not presented to the magistrate to determine that probable cause existed to arrest Porch after a properly granted evidentiary hearing under *Franks v. Delaware*; and (2) the trial court violated the Confrontation Clause by threatening Porch with admission of his videotaped interrogation in full despite the absence of the State's witness, an error the Court of Appeals ignored by improperly applying our State's error preservation rules. Reversal is necessary to correct these substantive errors.

I. Though it properly granted Porch a *Franks* hearing, the trial court erred in considering evidence not presented to the magistrate to confirm that probable cause existed.

The trial court properly granted Porch a *Franks* hearing because the officer applying for the warrant omitted exculpatory evidence from the warrant affidavit that strikes at the heart of the warrant affidavit's purpose. The Court of Appeals improperly concluded that a *Franks* evidentiary hearing was unnecessary. It also incorrectly concluded, along with the trial court, that probable cause existed to arrest Porch. These errors necessitate reversal.

A. The trial court was correct that potential exculpatory information was recklessly omitted from the warrant affidavit.

Where exculpatory evidence is omitted from a warrant affidavit, a defendant may challenge the warrant under *Franks v. Delaware* if he can make a preliminary showing of

intentionality and materiality. *United States v. Colkley*, 899 F.2d 297, 301 (4th Cir. 1990). This Court has explained that intentionality is shown by an offer of proof establishing that the evidence “was omitted with the intent to make, or in reckless disregard of whether it made, the affidavit misleading to the issuing judge.” *State v. Missouri*, 337 S.C. 548, 554, 524 S.E.2d 394, 397 (1999). While *Franks* has been said to be concerned with the intentional, rather than the mere negligent, omission of potentially exculpatory information, an omission that amounts to a “reckless disregard for the truth” can still warrant an evidentiary hearing. *Franks*, 438 U.S. at 171. The omitted evidence must also be “such that its inclusion in the affidavit would defeat probable cause.” *State v. Lynch*, 412 S.C. 156, 180, 771 S.E.2d 346, 358–59 (Ct. App. 2015). This is because “*Franks* protects against omissions that are *designed to mislead*, or that are made in *reckless disregard of whether they would mislead*, the magistrate.” *Colkley*, 899 F.2d at 301.

The trial court correctly explained that “case law talks about information that’s relevant but not dispositive information is not enough . . . to warrant the *Franks* hearing,” but found that Porch had met his burden to require the evidentiary hearing. (App. at 46). The trial court made a specific finding that the affidavit “lack[ed] information which would have been relevant to making a decision as to probable cause.” (App. at 45). The trial court was right.

The warrant affidavit excluded the fact that Porch had served as the State’s lead eyewitness in two separate trials where he testified that his DNA was at the scene because he intervened in the fatal altercation between Justin Mallory and the victim. (App. at

1259).² The State was sufficiently confident in Porch's testimony to put him on the stand as its lead eyewitness – not once, but twice – yet did not find that information important enough to include in the warrant affidavit.

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