ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Richland County
The Honorable Alison R. Lee, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-002146

RECEIVED

NOV 06 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE

Respondent,

V.

JOSHUA WILLIAM PORCH,

Petitioner

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
No. 11973
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

3rd confession], the portion made to McDaniels and Godfrey. The State agreed to redact any references to a polygraph or administration of the polygraph test. (R.141-42; App. 145-46).¹⁵

Even though the entire 3rd interview was video-recorded on CD/DVD, and it contained **Porch's responses** to *questioning* by Cohen, McDaniels and Godfrey, Porch objected to admission of **any** of the 3rd interview on Confrontation Clause grounds because Cohen was not present for the trial because the California court declined to enforce the out-of-state subpoena. (R. 140-54, 201-30; App. 144-58, 205-34). As discussed, Judge Lee found Cohen was unavailable through no fault of the State. Judge Lee initially found Porch had the opportunity to cross-examine Cohen at the Denno hearing regarding the reading of Miranda rights, Porch's waiver of the same, and the video itself. Judge Lee believed the opportunity to cross-examine was all that is necessary under Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), but took the matter under advisement. (R. 201-31; 254-59; App. 205-35; 258-63). The next morning Judge Lee ruled the portion of the interview conducted by Cohen [Miranda and waiver] was inadmissible but the portion of the interview conducted by McDaniel and Godfrey was admissible. (R. 254-59; App. 258-63). She reiterated this ruling later. (R. 665; App. 673).

In summary, because of Porch's objection, Judge Lee eventually ruled she would not allow admission of the portion of the video where Porch was Mirandized by Cohen and Porch waived of those rights, because Cohen was not present; however she would admit the video portion of the interview where Porch was questioned by McDaniels and Godfrey and they could testify to Porch's admissions in their portion of the 3rd interview. As a result of Judge Lee's

Washington v. State, 568 P.2d 301, 308-09 (Okla. Crim. App. 1977)(same). Porch continued to object. After much argument and discussion with the Court, Judge Lee ruled the State could introduce only the last portion of the video where Porch was questioned by Godfrey and McDaniels and rely before the jury on 2 previous Miranda warnings given to Porch on July 9th. ¹⁵ Porch concedes in his brief the entire interview with Cohen and McDaniels and Godfrey [the 3rd interview in California] was recorded on video. (**Petitioner's Brief, pp. 2, 4-5, 8, 20, 24**).

ruling on Porch's objection, and the State's agreement because of Porch's objection, the State introduced only the last portion of *the video-recorded confession* of Porch [the 3rd confession, State's Ex. 50] taken on July 10th, where Porch is questioned by McDaniels and Godfrey.

What Occurred Below Relevant to the Issue Raised to the Court of Appeals

After the State rested its case, *in camera*, the following took place:

MR. LUKE SHEALEY [Defense counsel]: Another issue I was hoping to get some clarification on, since Mr. Porch has decided to testify, you know, we've - - in this very unusual situation we have in this case where Investigator Cohen fought her out-of-state subpoena and chose not to come, through no fault of Mr. Goings, through no fault of this court, but also through no fault of Mr. Porch's, you know, we've kind of fashioned the way to go about it I think in Your Honor's opinion is fair to both sides, where we obviously needed to be able to tell that that was the longest interrogation. He was with her for six and a half hours. Some of that was polygraph, which we can't mention in this court before this jury, so what we have been doing is saying well, he - -after - - on that beginning of that day, on the 10th, he was left with a California detective. He was with her six and a half hours. I think they have been able to say including some breaks and things like that, and then turned over to Godfrey and McDaniels. So when Mr. Porch testifies, you know, is he limited strictly to that, or can he say nothing more about the process of that interrogation, what may have been said to him, what threats may have been made, because I think if he's strictly limited just to that, that his right to testify is diminished greatly.

So it is an unusual situation that we are placed in, but I just wanted to know the parameters from the court before he testifies so I don't want to defy any potential ruling, but I think that, you know, he should be allowed to discuss, if necessary, anything that happened in there, but for the polygraph. But - - so I - - I've never quite been put in this situation, so I think that any limitation on his testimony as to that situation, other than not being allowed infringes on his right to testify. So I don't know how we deal with it, but I'm bringing it up before we get started.

THE COURT: Mr. Goings?

(Off the record)

(Back on the record)

MR. GOINGS: Your Honor, we had - - we had limited it. I thought that was the understanding of how we were going to proceed.

The only thing I can think of at this point in time is if Mr. Porch testifies

about specific occurrences within that six and a half hour interview with Investigator Cohen, that it opens the door for the possibility of us playing portions of that video as well.

THE COURT: I think there is - - I think there is some problems with that, because certainly - - certainly she's not here to be able to state what went on.

If she had been here, certainly you would have been able to cross-examine her on those issues and she could have stated, you know, what her view was, and then Mr. Porch would be able to testify as to, you know, what he says occurred, but I think - - I think Mr. Goings is correct, that if you go too far into what occurred, what specifically was said to him and what she did is just going to open the door for them to put the video in.

MR. LUKE SHEALEY: Okay. Well, I just wanted to know. I disagree with that ruling completely. I disagree with that position because he has a right to testify.

THE COURT: Sure, he does.

MR. LUKE SHEALEY: It's not his fault that she was a Government witness who interrogated him for six and a half hours is not here.

I wasn't just to - - it's kind of like we have already said, that he was there for six and a half hours with this other detective, that it was more of the same, without going into specific threats or anything that was done, but I would just note my objection for the record and I just disagree with that. I think he has a right to testify, as I indicated through no fault of their own, and that he will not be able to present his complete and full story to the jury. And I just wanted to take it up and I will certainly follow the court's ruling.

THE COURT: You know, he can present it, but just understand that if he presents it, then they have got the opportunity to rebut it through the use of the video.

MR. LUKE SHEALEY: Well, certainly we don't want them to rebut that using this video when we don't have her obviously here. Maybe I should kind of just hold oral argument in front of them, which I'm not going to do, but I understand your ruling and we won't go into it in any more detail.

(R. 1068, ln. 3-1071, ln. 8; App: 1080, ln. 3 – 1083, ln. 8).

As just shown, after the State rested, *in camera*, Porch indicated he was going to testify and inquired whether he could testify about what occurred earlier in this same video interview, i.e. whether he could testify to what occurred during the interview with Cohen including whether

he was threatened or promised anything. As previously noted, Porch had successfully kept from the jury this portion of the 3rd interview video by raising a Confrontation Clause challenge because Cohen was not at trial and the State's agreement to not enter the same. Again, in this portion of the video, Porch was being *questioned/polygraphed* by Cohen. In addition to being video-recorded, this interview was monitored by McDaniels and Godfrey from an adjoining room by closed circuit T.V.

The State responded to Porch's inquiry by stating it had limited what it introduced, based on the court's earlier ruling, and thought there was an understanding or agreement how both sides were going to proceed regarding the 3rd interview. However, if Porch testified about specific occurrences within this earlier portion of the video-recorded 3rd statement, i.e. with Cohen, it would open the door for the possibility of the State playing portions of that part of the video in reply or rebuttal to Porch's testimony. The State did not intend to allow any references to the polygraph test to be admitted in reply or rebuttal and would redact those.

Porch argued he had a right to testify; it was not his fault the witness who interrogated him during this portion of the video was not at trial; and he would not be able to present his complete and full story to the jury if he was not allowed to testify about the earlier interview with Cohen.

Judge Lee informed Porch he could testify to what occurred earlier in this questioning session, i.e. with Cohen, if he wished, but if he did and went too far, it would probably open the door to the State being allowed to introduce portions of the video in reply or rebuttal. Porch stated he did not want the State to rebut using the video when Cohen was not there. He asserted he would not go into any more detail about the Cohen interview. (R. 1068-71; App. 1080-83).

After a break, Porch then testified in his own defense. He was not limited in any way in his testimony by the Court or the State, and he testified to threats and promises he *alleged* were made by Godfrey and McDaniels **and** that similar threats or behavior occurred during his interrogation by Cohen. (R. 1102-16; App. 1114-28, Specifically R. 1113, ll. 14 – 1114, ln. 10 in conjunction with R. 1102-1116). Porch did not seek or ask to play portions of the video of the interview with Cohen to corroborate his claims. Nor did he seek to introduce Cohen’s testimony from the Denno hearing to corroborate his claims. After Porch testified, the State **did not play the earlier portion of the video** [that portion with Cohen] in reply or rebuttal. Porch did not proffer any other testimony he would have testified to had Judge Lee not informed him of the possibility of reply or rebuttal with portions of the video. (R. 1068-1198; App. 1080-1210).

Lack of Preservation of the Issue Raised to this Court for the 1st time

Porch now argues for **the first time on appeal** this Court **should reverse because** Judge Lee erred in admitting the last portion of the 3rd interview of Porch in California [with McDaniels and Godfrey] because his Confrontation Clause rights were violated. (Pet.’s Brief, pp. 21-25). This **new issue** is not preserved for appellate review because it was not raised to the Court of Appeals. Rule 226(d)(2), SCACR; Kleckley v. Northwestern Nat. Cas. Co., 338 S.C. 131, 526 S.E.2d 218 (2000). Porch argued **to the Court of Appeals** Judge Lee violated his Confrontation Clause rights by informing him that if he testified about matters occurring in the 1st portion of the video, it may open the door or result in reply from the video itself. (FBOA, p. i & pp. 13-20). Porch did not argue to the Court of Appeals that Judge Lee erred in admitting the last portion of the 3rd interview. This new ground is not preserved for appeal.

Lack of Preservation of the Issue raised on Appeal to the Court of Appeals

Porch argued on appeal to the Court of Appeals that Judge Lee's advising him of the possibility of reply or rebuttal with the video of his interview with Cohen violated his Confrontation Clause rights and as a result limited his testimony. As the Court of Appeals correctly found, this issue was not preserved for appellate review. Porch, *supra*. It was not preserved for appellate review **for several reasons**.

Porch *inquired* of the court whether he could testify about matter which occurred earlier in the 3rd interview video, i.e. with Cohen. He stated if he could not it would infringe on his right to testify. The court informed Porch he could testify to anything he wished including what occurred during the earlier interview with Cohen. However, the court informed him, if he went too far, it would probably open the door to reply or rebuttal evidence from the video itself. Porch argued this impinged on his **right to testify**. He alleged he was not able **to testify fully** and therefore **to present a complete defense**. The court made clear Porch could testify to anything he wanted to, including what occurred in the earlier interview with Cohen, but the State had the opportunity to rebut it through the video. Porch stated he did not want the State to rebut his testimony using the video when Cohen was not there, thus conceding the issue.

Porch actually raised **no objection below to his testimony being limited**. He inquired whether he could go into the earlier interview and *whether* there were specific alleged threats by Cohen and what else was said, and was told that he could. His objection was to Judge Lee's ruling that if Porch went too far into the Cohen interview, it might open the door to the State offering reply evidence from the video itself to rebut his claims. As a result, the issue he raised to the Court of Appeals is not preserved for appellate review.

Further, **Porch did not object at any point under the Confrontation Clause**. He

argued initially if he could not go into the earlier portion of the 3rd interview, his **right to testify** and **present a defense** was being impinged. Again, he was told that he could.

Furthermore, Porch conceded the issue at trial. Once, the Court notified Porch he could testify to what occurred in the interview with Cohen, including whether there were any *alleged* threats and what was said, and of the possibility of reply or rebuttal with the video, Porch stated he did not want the State to impeach with the video conceding the issue. Porch was looking for guidance from Judge Lee, and once he received that guidance, he decided not to go into whether any *alleged* [possible] specific threats were made or what was said during the earlier interview with Cohen because it could open the door to portions of the video itself [which contained the entire interview with Cohen] coming in to disprove his testimony. This issue was conceded at the trial court level.

Finally, Porch *did not proffer any testimony what he would have testified to* had the court not informed him of the possibility he could open the door to reply or rebuttal evidence. Since Porch was not limited in his testimony or in presenting a defense by the Court; it was incumbent on Porch to establish prejudice by a proffer of what he would have testified to.

The Court of Appeals correctly found this issue was not preserved for appeal. It was not preserved for several reasons. See State v. Owens, 378 S.C. 636, 664 S.E.2d 80 (2008)(Confrontation Clause challenge not preserved for appellate review when it was not properly raised below); State v. Powers, 331 S.C. 37, 501 S.E.2d 116 (1998)(constitutional arguments are no exception to issue preservation rule); State v. Silver, 314 S.C. 483, 431 S.E.2d 250 (1993)(requiring proffer when evidence is excluded); State v. Anderson, 304 S.C. 551, 406 S.E.2d 152 (1991)(purpose of a proffer is to adequately develop the record to allow the appellate court a chance to determine whether the appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to

admit the evidence); Designer Showrooms, Inc. v. Kelley, 304 S.C. 478, 405 S.E.2d 417 (Ct. App. 1991)(a proffer that is confusing or incomplete will not provide grounds for the appellate court to find prejudice); State v. McCray, 332 S.C. 536, 506 S.E.2d 301 (1998)(party may not raise one issue below and a different one on appeal); State v. Myers, 344 S.C. 532, 544 S.E.2d 851 (Ct. App. 2001)(same); State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228 (2000)(issue is not preserved for appellate consideration if it has been conceded in the trial court). TNS Mills, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep't of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 503 S.E.2d 471 (1998)(same). As a result, the Court of Appeals finding this issue was not preserved for appellate review must be affirmed.

The Lack of Merit of this Issue

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